Miss Mallory’s
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and the Founding of Bethany

By Charles Edwin Jones

On the morning of May 12, 1909, a tiny proces-
sion set out from Beulah Heights on the northwest limits of Okla-
homa City along the sandy right-of-way of the proposed Oklahoma
City-El Reno interurban line. Their destination was a blackjack
grove thick with underbrush four miles to the west. The procession
consisted of a borrowed carriage bearing Nazarene superintendent
C.B. Jernigan and his wife, board members W.H. Roberts of Purcell
and W.H. Williams of Cement, and some others, and a rig driven by
the superintendent of the Oklahoma Orphanage, Mattie Mallory.
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The group’s purpose was to examine, with an eye to acquiring, a
quarter-section of land north of present Thirty-sixth Street be-
tween MacArthur and Rockwell as a site for three institutions—an
orphanage, a Bible school, and a home for unwed mothers—then
located at Beulah Heights. Miss Mallory had suggested relocation
because of problems at Beulah Heights. Orphanage board member
Williams explained, “There was a discussion raised about the or-
phan children, some objecting to their being associated with the
other children, as many of them had come from homes of little
moral training, and some of the board objected to Miss Mallory
being on the faculty.” The home and school had only days earlier
been placed under custody of the Pentecostal Church of the
Nazarene.?

The next day, they struck a deal with representatives of the El
Reno Interurban Railway Company by which the Oklahoma Or-
phanage received the west eighty acres (map, p. 406). The new
school, the Oklahoma Holiness College, was allotted the northeast
forty acres, and to the reorganized rescue facility, the Nazarene
Home, went the southeast forty acres. On July 27 J.W. Vawter and
Arthur Beaver representing the school, C.B. Jernigan and W.H.
Roberts representing the home, and Mattie M. Mallory and Minnie
Morris representing the orphanage announced intent to cause the
tract to be dedicated and platted as a new town they called
Bethany.®

A Kansan, Methodist, and teacher, Mattie Maranda Mallory
arrived in Indian Territory in 1892 with a passionate concern for
reformation of homeless and sometimes unruly children. Radically
conservative in behavioral and intellectual tastes, she worked in
tandem with pioneer “second-blessing” holiness people with whom
she shared consensus as to Christian perfection, piety, methodol-
ogy, and social philosophy.? She supported holiness endeavors,
submitted to holiness criticism, and shared holiness fears of city
life. Like them, she conducted her work on the faith principle.® In
the end, both she and they exchanged mission to the displaced for
less idealistic goals. In so doing, both demonstrated how entwined
they were with the world they sought to escape.

Miss Mallory and her would-be supporters worked out their
relationship during an era of chaotic change in both church and
state. Disenchanted with the compromises numerical and material
success had brought, they abandoned established Methodism to
recreate it after their own design.
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They were pioneers in a raw, new land and unwitting par-
ticipants in the frenzy of speculation and relocation that had char-
acterized the Oklahoma country from the first. The lands they
bought and sold in rapid succession had known Anglo-American
settlement less than two decades. The communities they founded
successfully attracted settlement along projected routes and
helped establish interurban rail and highway extension (at times
to nowhere) as a panacea of economic development, ¢ modus
operandi destined to mark the expansion of Oklahoma’s capital
city far into the future.

Mallory was in the vanguard of the participation of holiness
people in these changes. The move from Beulah Heights to Beth-
any was the end of their journey together—the last of a half-dozen
moves in search of a holiness haven and holiness support for
Mallory’s homeless children. It was a strategy destined to failure
due to the lack of resources, the aspirations, and the sectarianism
of her would-be patrons. The event marked the beginning of the
last decade of her ministry to poor and abandoned children.

To this point Mallory’s conditioning and preparation for work
with the dislocated had been continuous. Her native context pro-
vided the first stage of the
process. Ottawa, Kansas,
(founded 1864), where she
was born March 12, 1865, was
the focal point of resettle-
ment of Ottawa Indians from
Ohio three decades earlier.®
The town was situated only
twenty miles west-northwest of
Osawatomie, the heart of
“bleeding Kansas,” and her
father and mother, natives of
Connecticut and western North
Carolina, were apparently part
of the tide of free-staters and
abolitionists which flooded into
the area in the years before and
during the Civil War.

Mallory’s childhood and
youth were spent in a locale
saturated with sentiment
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Mattie Mallory (opposite)
came to Oklahoma Territory
with a strong commitment to
help the downtrodden. This
house is probably the one she
occupied on Walker and Pot-
tawatomie streets (Courtesy
the author, opposite, and the
Children’s Center, right).

favorable to education and reform. Patronage from outside groups,
such as the use in 1886 and 1889—her college years—of an Ot-
tawa-based printing firm by the Baptist Missionary and Educa-
tional Convention of the Indian Territory, is reflective of the atmos-
phere.” The impact of this environment was apparent in decisions
of the young woman herself who in 1889 became the first of three
in her family to graduate from the Methodist-related Baker Uni-
versity in nearby Baldwin City. This certification, supplemented
by a year of normal training at Emporia and two years of class-
room teaching at Ottawa, led in 1892 to her appointment as prin-
cipal of Dawes Academy at Berwyn near Ardmore, Indian Ter-
ritory.® The school, a project of the Baptist Home Missionary Soci-
ety of New York, served descendants of former slaves of the Chick-
asaws whom the tribe refused to admit to its ranks. The compas-
sion Mallory came to feel for victims of such exclusiveness never
left her.

While at Berwyn, Mallory came into contact with north Texas
holiness workers. There she also came within the orbit of the
controversial B.H. Irwin, proponent of a third effusion of grace—
the baptism of fire.® Both were to play key roles in her future work.

In 1897 Mallory accepted briefly the superintendency of a Fire-
Baptized mission in Winnipeg.! That summer, while changing
trains in Oklahoma City enroute to the Canadian assignment,
Mallory felt impressed to establish a ministry for homeless child-
ren in that raw new place, then only eight years removed from
initial settlement. The providential opening came in August of that
year in an invitation from Reuben E. Hershey to come to Okla-
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homa City to conduct a school for orphans and children of evan-
gelists in conjunction with the mission and home he recently had
opened on Reno Street. Hershey, a native of Pennsylvania, was one
of a number of River Brethren drawn to Irwin’s teaching. Stopping
by Berwyn enroute, Mallory recruited former colleagues E. Fran-
ces Johnston and Laura B. Shaw as assistants. While there she
prepared the first (September 16) issue of The Guide, a paper
destined to promote her work during the next half-dozen years.!!
By September 27 she was on the ground and taking charge.!?

Partnership with Hershey was short-lived. Mallory and her
friends, including Hershey’s younger sister Susan, soon came to
the conclusion that he was led by some “spirit other than the Spirit
of the Lord.” Following a period of prayer and fasting, they
received a divine directive to “move out.” On January 7, 1898,
Mallory recalled, “with four workers, sixteen children,” two post-
age stamps, “9 cts. in pocket, and faith in God, we moved from
Reno Street [to Fifth Street], promising to pay $20 . . . rent by 3
o’clock p.m., Jan. 8.” With “only groceries” enough “for one meal,
dishes enough for four to eat from, and one little sewing table,” the
women initiated their ministry on the faith principle, trusting that
prayer, fasting, and accurate information about the work would
ensure adequate provision. Three years later a front-page article
in The Daily Oklahoman charging Hershey with child abuse
seemed to corroborate their intuition.®

Relocation became the rule. After less than six weeks of high
rent on Fifth Street, the group moved again on February 17 to a
brick house at Walker and Pottawatomie streets near the railroad
tracks. In May, 1901, Brother O.C. Woodrow offered to the or-
phanage himself, his family, house, barn, livestock, and 160 acres
of land a few miles northwest of the city. The older children were
sent there to learn the virtues of industry and rural life. The
younger children remained downtown two more years.*

Difficulties the first year made plain the need for a patron
organization. Like physical locations, corporate sponsors followed
one another in rapid succession. The guardianship of the first of
these, B.H. Irwin’s Fire-Baptized Holiness Association, was cut
short by the leader’s downfall in 1900. All signatories to the ar-
ticles of incorporation of the Oklahoma Orphanage (January 18,
1899)—Mallory and her associates Johnston, Shaw, and Hershey;
Estelle Gaines, a licensed Wesleyan Methodist evangelist of Mar-
vin, South Carolina; G.M. Henson of Hartzell, Oklahoma Territory,
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ruling elder of the Fire-Baptized work in the territory; and Irwin
himself of Lincoln, Nebraska—were associated with it.'®

Several less radical sponsors—the Holiness Association of Texas
(1901-1903), the Holiness Union (1904), and the Holiness Associa-
tion of Oklahoma and Indian Territory (1905-1909)—succeeded
the Fire-Baptized Association.!®* Endorsement was easy to obtain,
sustained support difficult to come by.

Holiness people possessed a wealth of sentiment in favor of
educational, orphanage, and rescue work. Nearly every settlement
with a few score holiness believers attempted to minister in one or
more of these areas. Such ministries were in the collective con-
sciousness. In the village of Peniel, Texas, for instance, streets
named College, Professor, Orphans, Mueller, Rees, and Widow’s
Home served as continual reminders of such needs.!” Enthusiasm
was easy to generate. Multiplication of projects, however, guaran-
teed a short life expectancy for most of them.

Mallory, however, failed to wring substantial support from the
holiness community. Ingenuity was her chief asset. In 1901, using
$300 from the sale of land in Kansas as a down payment, she
purchased twenty acres near (future) Twenty-seventh Street and
Classen Boulevard in Oklahoma City. Two years later the or-
phanage located there. Among those attracted to services Mallory
conducted for children and staff of the home was the family of
Arthur Beaver, a businessman from Ohio who settled in the neigh-
borhood.!®

Land speculation was to become a mainstay of development.
Outsiders had begun to attend the services at the orphanage in
large enough numbers to make Mallory believe that ministry to
children of families who settled nearby and ministry to her child-

The orphanage near Classen Boulevard was comprised of (I to r) the boys’ building,
the girls’ building, and the school building (Courtesy Archives, International Head-
quarters, Church of the Nazarene).
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ren might be combined. She hoped that the settlement of holiness
people around the orphanage would provide a model community
and a base of support for the orphanage and the projected rescue
home. The Oklahoma and Indian Territory Rescue and Orphanage
Commission, created November 9, 1905, was the mechanism by
which this would be accomplished. This entity was to serve as the
foundation for development at Beulah Heights the next year and at
Bethany four years later.!®

Thirteen days after the commission was created, Mallory deeded
to it an eighty-acre tract a mile north and a mile west of the
Twenty-seventh Street location. Six months later the site was
platted as the Beulah Heights Addition to Oklahoma City.?’ The
subdivision offered building lots for individual residences on
streets parallel to and intersecting Pennsylvania Avenue and
Northwest Thirty-sixth Street on the east and south. Campuses for
the rescue home, the Bible school (which occupied a sizeable brick
structure built by Arthur Beaver and others), and the orphanage
were platted along the west side of the development.?

Beulah Heights appeared to be the fulfillment of Mallory’s
dream of a place where “orphans, half orphans, deserted children
and waifs” might be set on the way to holiness and usefulness. For
some time she had been developing a strategy for awakening the
holiness community to its opportunity and responsibility. Three
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years earlier she had explained to the Holiness Association of
Texas:

[The children] have been gathered from homes of penury and want
and dire distress. . . . The boys must be taught to work. To rear them
in idleness is to give them to the devil. . . . We recommend that our
ministers do missionary work in gathering up these children, hun-
dreds of whom are wandering the streets in our towns and cities,
without a chance to make men and women [of them]. . . . Let us work,
pray and pay until we meet God’s ideal in this matter.??

Mallory knew that precautions had to be taken—“We take
charge of their reading at the Home, and the only text book is the
bible.”?® Police at times had placed runaways and delinquents who
had run afoul of the law under her care.?* Such youngsters had to
be carefully watched until they became more responsible. Those
with communicable diseases and moral problems “should not be
put in with the others” until they had “been made fit.”?* They must
not, however, be looked down upon, segregated, or patronized.
Acceptance of them was as necessary to the health of the com-
munity as was the nurture of its own offspring.

Day-to-day contact was in the best interest of both, she thought.
At Peniel, Texas, she had noted the effect of the environment on
her children:

Thank God! They have been given a chance for purity, God and heaven.
Two services daily are held with the children, at which there is a study
of the Word, and each saved child leads in prayer, and the unsaved are
urged to give their hearts to God. All the children who have been in
the Home any length of time are now saved. They commit [to memory]

Mallory’s ministry
developed along the
route of the interur-
ban, eventually lead-
ing her to Beulah
Heights and Beth-
any (opposite). This
building was one of
several constructed
at Beulah Heights
(right) (Map cour-
tesy OHS; photo
courtesy the author).
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three verses [of scripture] daily, and five on Sunday. Thus their minds
are stored with God’s word, and given a bent toward God, and the
heart purified and filled.?8

At Beulah Heights the salvation of the children was foremost.
As before, the staff worked “without salary,” depending “wholly on
the Lord for their clothing and other necessities.” Although they
ate “with the children,” they took nothing “from the general fund
for their own expenses.”?

Ambivalence toward the city pervaded the thinking of Mallory
and the other founders. Oklahoma City was no metropolis, but the
meteoric rise of its population (from 4,000 in 1898, to 14,000 in
1901, to 91,000 in 1918) was sufficient to fuel the fears of the
holiness people who populated the subdivision. They designed in-
stitutions with ministry to and asylum from the city in mind.
Three goals were evident—provide a refuge for victims and poten-
tial victims of its onslaughts, redeem moral wreckage incident to
its life, and train workers for its redemption. Clearly, the or-
phanage and rescue home spoke to the first and second goals, the
Beulah Heights College and Bible School to the third. “An excel-
lent Trolley car line” made for easy access to secular employment
and to evangelistic opportunities.?® The founders regarded their
suburban location much as those of Bethany later did:

We are far enough from the main part of the city to be free from the
excessive rents which are charged for houses, and to be free from the
many vile influences of a large city. And since we are only thirty
minutes by electric car from the heart of the City, it makes us easily
accessible to all the splendid advantages of the city.?®

In the contest between ministry and asylum, asylum emerged the
winner.

Beulah Heights provided a haven from the so-called “scarlet
sins.” As reiterated in “Modern Society,” an essay in the 1904-1905
Yearbook of the Holiness Association of Oklahoma and Indian Ter-
ritory, “scarlet sins” were not confined to those associated with
saloons and brothels, but included popular society’s “places of
resort, its modes of dress, its clubs and entertainments, and its
theaters, dance halls and card parties.” In a mixed metaphor the
author warned that behind society’s “gilded trappings . . . may be
found the poison of a thousand vipers.”® Parents must shelter
their sons and daughters from such influences at all cost.

For holiness parents, a guarded education and a safe environ-
ment were the chief selling points. The school was the principal
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attraction. Its name aside, the “college” was in fact primarily a
preparatory school in which children of resident families and child-
ren gathered from the streets were taught together. The first year
the popular president D.F. Brooks, a superannuated Methodist
Episcopal pastor-evangelist from New York state, taught a Bible
course which attracted twenty-two adults.?® Except for a staff
member or two, the eighty-one remaining enrollees, were either
orphans or children of residents.3? Every member of the commu-
nity was in frequent contact with Mallory’s children.

Beulah Heights attracted a remnant of the moribund Fire-Bap-
tized movement including R.B. Beal, a trustee, and Harry P. Lott,
future ruling elder of the reorganized Oklahoma Fire-Baptized
convention.®® Other residents included former United Brethren
layman Arthur Beaver; former Southern Methodist pastors J.W.
Vawter and G.W. Sawyer; evangelist U.D.T. Murray, (father of
W.H. “Alfalfa Bill” Murray, the chairman of the Oklahoma Con-
stitutional Convention and future governor); and future Northern
Methodist pastor W.V. Shook.3

Evangelistic activity was a central feature of life at Beulah
Heights. The marks of “justification, entire sanctification, and a
holy life” were both “seen and taught . . . daily.” There were
“almost” continuous revival services.? After a meeting with evan-
gelist Dave Hill, President Brooks reported, “The spiritual tide
rose higher and higher . . . and every scholar in the school was in
the altar [as] a seeker for something, or some phase of salvation, or
a seeker for souls in the congregation.”*

Such occurrences did little, however, to allay fear of continual
contact with the displaced. Sentiment favoring the downtrodden
was one thing. Jeopardizing one’s aspirations for one’s own child-
ren was quite another. Parents became wary of their children’s
association with orphans. Particularly threatening were those
recently admitted to the home. Few parents were deeply com-
mitted to Mallory as a person or to her ministry to the disad-
vantaged. As the end of the third school term approached, dissatis-
faction with coeducation could no longer be ignored.

To many, including Mattie Mallory, reorganization and (pos-
sible) relocation offered the best alternatives for future harmony
and prosperity. The governing structure of the school was the first
to undergo renovation. On March 23, 1909, H.L. Short, Arthur
Beaver, and J.W. Vawter secured a state charter for “an inter-
denominational Holiness College and Bible school” in Oklahoma

401



THE CHRONICLES OF OKLAHOMA

C.B. Jernigan and his wife, with strong institutional sup-

port, seemed destined to play a major role in Mallory’s minis-
try, even before the move to Bethany (Courtesy the author).

City (presumably at Beulah Heights). The Oklahoma Holiness
College would “use the whole Bible as a text book” and teach the
doctrines “of regeneration, entire sanctification as a second
definite work of grace, divine healing, and the second coming of
Christ.” Of the five trustees named, only one (W.H. Williams) had
served with Mallory on the board of the Beulah Heights College
and Bible School. All but Williams were residents of Oklahoma
City.

Mallory was neither an incorporator nor a trustee. Her par-
ticipation is evident, however, in the provision that in exchange for
land valued at $10,000 the Oklahoma Orphanage would be given
tuition scholarships for up to fifty children and staff members each
year.’” Mallory regarded the grant as an endowment and saw in it
an opportunity for her children much as a forward-looking parent
would.

The new leaders immediately confronted the problem that had
plagued Mallory—where to find support. Funds for the institutions
at Beulah Heights had come from the sale of building lots and from
contributions of individual members of the Holiness Association of
Oklahoma.?® The few-hundred-member constituency was rapidly
being gathered into the new Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene
and it was to that body that they turned.
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The rescue commission, meeting April 5 at the Alamo Hotel in
Oklahoma City, deeded the rescue home to the church. The Naza-
rene negotiator was C.B. Jernigan, the energetic superintendent of
the Oklahoma and Kansas District. That year, the forty-five-year-
old photographer-evangelist saw Nazarene work in Oklahoma
grow from five to thirty-eight churches and from 153 to 910 mem-
bers.?® Beside Jernigan was his wife Johnny Hill Jernigan, a mis-
sion and rescue worker. Mrs. Jernigan became matron of the res-
cue home under church control.*

The arrangement lifted from Mallory the responsibility for a
second of the ministries at Beulah Heights. A natural complement
to the orphanage, the rescue home dated from the first days there.
It operated under the charter of the Oklahoma and Indian Ter-
ritory Rescue and Orphanage Commission and was housed in a
four-room cottage near the southwest corner of the addition.*
Least successful of the three, it had been headed during its brief
history by three superintendents—W.L. Ellison, R.B. Beall, and
G.W. Sawyer; the first and last were physicians.*? A new sponsor
for it must have seemed a godsend.

Reorganization gave the school new trustees and land. It gave
the rescue home new trustees and church backing. Proximity to
proposed interurban routes to El Reno and Guthrie increased the
value of the land; dynamic leadership and constituent growth
increased the value of the church tie. At this point, however, the
potential of each was still to be realized—the land because it first
had to be sold or traded and the church tie because membership
had to multiply many times before funding adequate to institution-
al need could be achieved.

Those endowed with skill and experience adequate to the task
were Mallory, the enabler, and C.B. Jernigan, spokesman for the
new order. Although the two were not close friends, she may have
interpreted the superintendent’s obvious belief in his wife’s minis-
try as an indicator of his attitude toward her work as well.

Or so it may have seemed on May 11, 1909. That afternoon,
Sister Mallory went to the door of Brother Vawter’s printing office
in the basement of the school building where the school board was
in session and requested that W.H. Williams, a member of the
orphanage board who was meeting with them, present the follow-
ing proposal for consideration:

The interurban railroad was building a road from Okla. City to El
Reno through her property and had been talking to her about buying
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her property, including the school buildings. If she accepted their deal,
she would get 80 acres of land 4 miles west of Beulah Heights. She
proposed to give 10 acres of this land for a new location for the school
and also see that the interurban Co., give 10 acres, and she would sell
us 20 acres more on reasonable terms and would loan us $5,000.00 to
build our school buildings with. She would also withdraw from the
board and from the faculty and take the orphan children from the
school up to the sixth grade, and would take in interest on the
$5,000.00 for the schooling of the children above the sixth grade.®

Williams recalled, “I went back and reported to the Board and
suggested that we could take the $5,000.00 and build the dor-
mitories, and then sell enough lots to pay out on the land.” Looking
out the window, one member remarked that Henry Roberts, the
superintendent’s secretary, was passing at that instant. Williams
hurried outside and asked Roberts to approach Jernigan and
report back.**

Early the next morning, the day set aside for the organizational
meeting of the board of the Nazarene Home, Roberts reported that

The Jernigans camped in the blackjack grove that became Bethany until they could
construct proper quarters. They eventually moved to the hospital building, the first
house in Bethany (opposite) (Courtesy Southern Nazarene University Library Ar-
chives).
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“Bro. Jernigan was not going to consider the school proposition.”
When Williams himself asked him, however, Jernigan agreed to
“look over” the proposed location. Williams then proceeded to noti-
fy Mallory and the others and to round up a carriage, a horse, and
some harness.*

On site, all of Jernigan’s reservations vanished. At the end of the
day, he crawled “through the briars and underbrush” to a blackjack
tree on the future location of the Nazarene Home and knelt to pray.
There, he later recalled, “the Heavens opened and God showed
[me] a vision of Bethany greater than it stands today.”¢

The church leader’s turnabout was complete. To Jernigan and
his followers the new town was predestined to a unique mission.
The conviction that Bethany was set apart for a sacred purpose
inspired them to frenzied activity. Well before July 27 when the
plat was filed with the Registrar of Deeds of Oklahoma County,
Jernigan and his helpers had pitched camp and begun hacking
away at underbrush on the site selected for the Nazarene Home.*

Financing conformed to a familiar pattern. Jernigan remem-
bered:

We went back to Oklahoma City, and closed the deal with the Carline
company. We sold the old site for $6,000, and bought the forty acres
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here for $4,000. This left us $2,000 with which to begin operation at
our new place. Some old debts had to be paid.*

The interurban tracks had not yet reached Bethany and Jerni-
gan’s crew was forced to freight lumber and other materials over
sandy roads from Oklahoma City. In June Jernigan moved his
family into a newly-constructed barn which they used as a resi-
dence until the concrete block hospital building—*“the first house”
in Bethany—was ready for occupancy.*’

The hallmark of the new town, Jernigan and his associates
believed, should be the realization of holiness ideals of moral and
civic righteousness. The charter, like that of its predecessor, for-
bade the sale of liquor (Beulah Heights specified whiskey) and
tobacco in any form.*® Restrictive covenants prohibited such sales
and town ordinances outlawed motion picture theaters, dance
halls and pool halls, public swimming pools and merry-go-rounds,
games of chance, possession of liquor, and most Sunday business.5!
Both looked to the sale of building lots as a major source of reve-
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nue. Bethany sought to upgrade development by establishing a
building line thirty feet from front streets and a $1,000 minimum
for construction bordering the college campus and fronting on the
interurban right-of-way.*?

Bethany’s founders envisioned a community where—as in the
Judean home of Jesus’s friends Mary, Martha, and Lazarus—holi-
ness and compassion should go hand-in-hand. As a result, at near-
ly every public building and street intersection in it they provided
some reminder of this commitment. Entire sanctification—that
heaven-in-the-heart experience which “Beulah” symbolized—was
acknowledged by “Holiness” in the school’s name and by The King’s
Highway (after the “way of holiness” in Isaiah 35:8 AV), the main
north and south street.?® In contrast to Beulah Heights, where
trustees G.W. Sawyer and J.F. Page had streets named for them,
only Arthur Beaver was so honored in the new town. Four streets
honored heroes of faith. That named for Francis Asbury, father of
American Methodism, ran along the west side of the college cam-
pus. The one named for the much-praised George Mueller, who
conducted an orphanage on the faith principle in Bristol, England,
bounded the Oklahoma Orphanage grounds on the east. Others
celebrating the ministries of Emma Mott Whittemore, founder of
the Door of Hope missions in New York and elsewhere, and of
Charles Crittenden, founder of the Florence Crittenden Homes, ran
parallel to the north edge of the grounds of the Nazarene Home.%*

Work went on apace at the site of the rescue home. Other
projects were not far behind. At the college two large frame dor-
mitories were begun “as if by magic” in August, underwritten by
the $5,000 loan promised by Mallory in May. Unfinished when
school opened on October 5, the buildings were completed by the
end of the month.?® In December Mallory began construction of a
substantial concrete residence on the orphanage site.%

Proceeds from the sale of property at Beulah Heights enabled
Mallory to acquire 200 acres for the home. The forty-acre tract
south of the interurban right-of-way was reserved for the child-
ren’s home and school, and the remaining quarter-section south
and west of town for general agriculture, truck gardening, and the
like. The orphanage superintendent hoped the farm, print shop,
and industrial department would generate enough income to make
the orphanage self-sustaining.

By year’s end there were hopeful signs. Extracurricular enrich-
ments, such as a stringed band which played for mission services,
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were already in place. Professor J. Gerald Mraz of the Epworth
University in Oklahoma City promised five years’ free instruction
for one of its members.5” Already Mallory needed to increase the
loan to Oklahoma Holiness College because of the number of her
charges needing to be enrolled. Even such problems lent credence
to her belief in the wisdom of the move. The land was already half
paid for. It must have seemed that Mallory could at least an-
ticipate the fulfillment of her dream—a home that acted as mother,
father, and school mistress to orphans would make God-fearing,
responsible, middle-class men and women of them all.58

Children, probably Miss Mallory’s, prepared to board the interurban at stop thir-
teen in Bethany (Courtesy the author).

Mattie Mallory, “one of the most successful” orphanage superin-
tendents in the country, paid a high price for encouraging the move
to Bethany.®® She had laid the foundation for every community
enterprise. She put forth her best efforts in behalf of the new town.
She developed strategies to circumvent criticisms. She volunteered
to teach the orphan children in the primary grades rather than
offend parents, then lectured the same parents about need to
regard her “little ones” as having by right a claim on “the church of
the living God [to be taken] into her bosom [and given the chance
to] develop . . . for God and humanity.”®

The orphanage superintendent ignored church politics. She
seemed unaware that Nazarenes alone sat on boards of control and
that few Methodist and Fire-Baptized Holiness residents of Beulah
Heights had relocated in Bethany. The import of Brother Jerni-
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gan’s announcement in November that he had appointed trustees
for the Nazarene Home and the (interdenominational) Oklahoma
Holiness College seemed lost on her. She must have known that
the church’s 910 members in the state were incapable of giving
adequate support to the Bethany institutions. What she did not
recognize was the effect church control of them could have.
Mallory had agreed to surrender her seat on the school board.
Exclusion from decisions relating to the school would not therefore
have disturbed her. Exclusion from committees relating to church
work with orphans and unwed mothers, areas in which she had
great expertise, however, could not have escaped her notice. What
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Looking north-northeast, this early view of Bethany shows the college buildings

(right background), residences (left background), the interurban (center), and
Mallory’s truck garden and orchard (foreground) (Courtesy SNU Library Archives).

she seemed not to sense at first was the degree to which the
Nazarene system then being created would place the needs of
those inside above those outside.®*

The difference between Mallory, the practical evangelist, and
Jernigan, the practical visionary, was essentially the difference
between the “unorganized holiness” of the Holiness Association of
Oklahoma and Beulah Heights and the “organized holiness” of the
Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene and Bethany.

To Jernigan the Church of the Nazarene was the earthly coun-
terpart of the “glorious church, not having spot, or wrinkle” in
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heaven.®? It was the incarnation of “organized holiness.” Corpo-
rately, its members were analogous to the Children of Israel, and
its leaders, the general and district superintendents, to Moses and
the heads of the twelve tribes.®

Few Nazarenes at that time or in the future would espouse this
argument. Conviction, however, that the Church of the Nazarene
had subsumed the Methodist holiness movement and that a uni-
que quality attached to persons and institutions bearing the Naza-
rene name left an indelible mark on the rhetoric of its members.
Mallory, herself an elder, had not long to await the impact of this
mind set.

The district assembly of 1910 endorsed the Oklahoma Orphan-
age. It stated, however, “We need to have orphanage buildings,
ruled and governed by the Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene.”
The next year the assembly reiterated its conviction and ratified
the decision of the district superintendent to assume control of the
Dependent Children’s Home at Davenport fifty miles away. Mal-
lory was then given “a few minutes to address the Assembly.”

That action did not amount to personal rejection of Mallory, who
was then at the height of her popularity.®® It indicated, however,
that the church would deny patronage to any ministry, no matter
how worthwhile, which operated outside its jurisdiction, and it
signaled the end (in Oklahoma at least) of interdependent holiness
agencies focused on a common goal. It heralded the triumph of
ministries devoted to the aspirations of the faithful over those
devoted to the unloved and unlovely.

The school was the possession of great price. Optimism obscured
material reality. Though registering 20 percent annual increases,
the Nazarene population in Oklahoma (1,632 in 1912) was not
going to be able to fund projects adequately. Both the Dependent
Children’s Home at Davenport and the Nazarene Home at Bethany
ceased operation within four years. The latter closed, officials said,
because of Mrs. Jernigan’s health and “insufficient support from
the churches.” The trustees made no attempt to find a new matron.
The property was turned over to the Oklahoma Holiness College.®
What remained in Bethany as elsewhere in the Nazarene universe
was the school.

Absorption with the college was apparent in the report which
preceded the closing of the Nazarene Home. “There is a serious
[unnamed] difficulty in the way of Oklahoma Holiness College,”
the Special Rescue Committee said, “on account of the home being
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so close to the college.”” The
serious difficulty may have
been socializing between college
boys and rescue home girls.
Oral tradition has it that at
least one marriage resulted.®
The “decline [in] zeal” for res-
cue work which was reported
the next year may have origi-
nated in part in disapproval of
such alliances.®®

The similarity of community
responses to orphans and un-
wed mothers cannot have been
lost on the orphanage superin-
tendent. She decided to accept
the college board’s interpreta-
tion of her loan of 1909—that it
was an outstanding liability
rather than an endowment of

o i g

tuition scholarships for her high
school age children. Trustee Ar-
thur Beaver claimed that she

This photograph was taken when Mattie
Mallory Morgan applied for a chiroprac-
tor license in 1921 (Courtesy Oklahoma

“placed her note in the hands of Sate AREHINES)

an attorney for collection within

60 days” and that he and others rallied to stave off foreclosure.™
The last reference to this issue appeared in the Western Oklahoma
assembly minutes in 1917—“The mortgage held by Mrs. Mattie
Mallory Morgan has been cancelled.”” The final obstacle to an
unbreakable tie between the school and church had been sur-
mounted.”

The rift had been widening for five years. Nineteen-twelve had
been critical. On March 20, eight days following her forty-seventh
birthday (the license application said she was forty-five), Mattie
Mallory married Robert William Morgan, a Tennessean eighteen
years her junior.” That November during the district assembly
Mrs. Morgan responded to a rumor that she had been expelled
from the church by submitting her resignation from ministry and
membership in it. Although that body refused to accept her resig-
nation, her name then disappeared from the assembly minutes as
an elder. Inexplicably, it reappeared in them two years later as a
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consecrated deaconess, her husband in the interim having become
a local preacher and a participant in the course of study from the
Oklahoma City church.™

Marriage also changed Mallory’s role as “mother” to orphans.
The interurban gave her freedom of movement and the opening of
a public school freedom to do the work of an evangelist.” Down-
town Oklahoma City was only nine miles and thirty minutes from
stop thirteen in Bethany and she was free to live either place as
she chose.”® She and her husband resided at several suburban
addresses during those years.”

In 1915 the Morgans bought the Exchange Hotel in the Pack-
ingtown section of Oklahoma City and opened the Sunshine Mis-
sion as an adjunct to it with Mrs. Morgan as superintendent.”
Described as “a live holiness mission,” the ministry was destined to
be short-lived.” Mr. Morgan failed to pass the course of study for
licensed ministers and Mattie would not continue alone. The stock-
yards mission closed before the end of the year.

The Morgans began to move in new directions. In 1919 R.W.
Morgan on June 8 and Mattie Morgan on November 23 joined the
Wesley Methodist Episcopal Church of Oklahoma City.%° The fol-
lowing year they turned over management of the orphanage to five
Oklahoma City club women who were to become the nucleus of the
Children’s Welfare League, its sponsor for the next half-century.®

The Oklahoma Orphanage, shown here in 1926, still exists, though altered, within
the Children’s Center building (Courtesy Children’s Center).
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The transfer marked the end of the Oklahoma Orphanage as an
evangelistic agency.

In 1922 Mr. and Mrs. Morgan moved into a cottage at 1445
Northwest Twenty-sixth Street in Oklahoma City. Located in the
Epworth View Addition, the house stood on land once owned by the
Oklahoma Orphanage. There R.W. Morgan pursued what proved
to be a checkered career as a real estate broker. In 1921 Mattie was
licensed as a chiropractor, an art she practiced until her death
from cancer on March 5, 1938.%2 Financial problems plagued the
Morgans’ last years together. Their home was sold at sheriff’s
auction less than two years after her death.®

Mattie Mallory Morgan was buried among children and workers
of the early years in the last remaining grave of the Oklahoma
Orphanage lot at Fairlawn Cemetery in Oklahoma City. The ex-
pense of the funeral and of placing the stone which is inscribed
“Mother” was borne by the home.

In 1975 a financial crisis precipitated an ironic turnabout. The
Children’s Convalescent Center of Bethany, successor to the Okla-
homa Orphanage, was placed under the custody of the Pentecostal
Holiness Church, successor to the Fire-Baptized Holiness Associa-
tion, the guardian of its infancy.
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Composed of Oklahoma and Kansas, Ponca City, Oklahoma, November 10-14, 1909
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1909): 8-9.
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Smith, a national Holiness Association evangelist. No. 144 in J M. Harris and W.J.
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Glorious Church). The analogy to Moses and the heads of the twelve tribes was made
about the same time by John W. Oliver, another Pentecostal Nazarene author. Church
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84 Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene, Minutes of the Second Annual District
Assembly for [the] Oklahoma District, Bethany Station, Oklahoma City, November
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closing the Special Rescue Committee said the assets of the rescue home would
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pastors to “co-operate” with the Holmes Home of Redeeming Love in Oklahoma City,
a Free Methodist ministry. With a net worth of $14,901, the Nazarene Home was then
in far better financial condition than the college.

7 Ibid., 24-25. Jernigan said that the Nazarene Home ministered to more than 700
young women during its seven-year history. Jernigan, Pioneer Days, 134. As a worker
in a slum mission in Oklahoma City in 1914 future Pentecostal Holiness Bishop Dan
T. Muse sent one of his converts to the Nazarene Home. Harold Paul, Dan T. Muse:
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1917 (Ponca City, Oklahoma, 1917), 21.
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20.
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tion, marriage license, and marriage certificate, Office of the Court Clerk, Oklahoma
County Courthouse, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

74 Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene, Minutes of the Fourth Annual District
Assembly, 12, 34. R.W. Morgan was listed as a licensed preacher in 1914 and 1915,
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M.M. Morgan as a deaconess in 1915. That year R.W. Morgan and twenty-eight other
licensed preachers “were referred back to their local church[es], they having not
passed the course of study.” Pentecostal Church of the Nazarene, Minutes of the Third
Annual District Assembly, 29-30. There was no list of recognized workers in 1916.
The 1912-1913 Oklahoma City directory listed their residence as 1514 West Thir-
teenth and Robert W. Morgan as “Rev.”
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December 3, 1911. Chandler, When Oklahoma Took the Trolley, 51-54.

" QOklahoma City directories, 1913-1939. In 1913 they resided at 1514 West
Thirteenth; in 1915 at Bethany; in 1916 at 518 North Walker [not suburban]; in
1918-1919 at 923 West Tenth; in 1920-1921 at 1215 West Thirtieth; and in 1922—
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78 The 1915 city directory said the Reverend Mrs. Mattie M. Morgan was pastor of
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1916): 7; (I.L. Flynn], “Sunshine Mission,” Oklahoma Nazarene, 5 (August 10, 1916):
4; The Daily Oklahoman, November 26, 1916. Owen’s article did not give the names
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80 Church records show that R.W,, Jr., a son either by a previous marriage or by
adoption, joined on November 23 with Mrs. Morgan. The church, which was located
at Twenty-fifth and North Douglas when the Morgans joined, built a new gothic
building at Twenty-fifth and Classen Boulevard in 1927. The new location was less
than a block from the Morgan residence at 1445 Northwest Twenty-sixth. At Wesley
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United Methodist Church, The First 65 Years [1910-1975] (Oklahoma City, 1976), 8,
15 (Cover title: The Dynamic History of a Forceful Church).
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original purchase, and on July 8 as representative of the Oklahoma Orphanage sold
the remainder to the Children’s Welfare League for $1.00. In 1940 when the focus
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[“History of Bethany”], [1978], 1, 24, typescript, Archives, SNU.
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state license, December 15, 1924, SA; The Daily Oklahoman, March 7, 1938.

83 The sale was February 7, 1940. Sheriff’s Deed Record No. 543, February 27, 1940,
to George Goff, Office of Registrar of Deeds, Oklahoma County Courthouse, Okla-
homa City, Oklahoma. The funeral expenses of Robert W. Morgan who died January
15, 1956, also were underwritten by the home. He was buried at Sunny Lane
Cemetery in Midwest City, an Oklahoma City suburb.
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